FILED

Oct 24, 2016

Court of Appeals Division III

State of Washington

FILED NOV 09 2016 Supreme Court No. WASHINGTON STATE

(Court of Appeals No. 33575-5-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES COLE,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION

This Court should have grave concerns about a new practice that has developed in Washington criminal trials. Prosecutors are now regularly objecting to traditional defense closing arguments explaining the differences among the various standards of proof applicable in the justice system and emphasizing that the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard is the strictest in the law. When trial courts sustain these ill-taken objections, they violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights of criminal defendants. The trial court here violated Mr. Cole's constitutional rights by sustaining such an objection.

This Court should also be concerned about the due process problems with the drug possession and bail jumping statutes. Neither statute requires the State to prove a culpable mental state, and instead places the burden on the defendants to disprove culpability. In this case, Charles Cole was convicted of felony drug possession based on nearly imperceptible residue in a pipe, and he was convicted of two counts of bail jumping despite having appeared on 23 different dates for pretrial hearings, and despite having reasonable explanations for missing the two dates in question. This Court should grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Charles Cole, through his attorney, Lila J. Silverstein, asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Cole*, No. 33575-5-III (Slip Op. filed October 18, 2016). A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Did the trial court err and violate Mr. Cole's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights when it sustained the State's objection to Mr. Cole's closing argument explaining that "beyond a reasonable doubt" is a higher standard of proof than the standards applied in civil cases?

 RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 2. Does RCW 69.50.4013 violate the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, both facially and as applied, because it permits the State to convict a person of a felony drug crime without proving a culpable mental state? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 3. Does RCW 9A.76.170 violate the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, both facially and as applied, because it permits the State to convict a person of felony bail jumping without proving a culpable mental state? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 4. Did the State present insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Cole of bail jumping on count two, where the State alleged he failed to appear

"on or about October 15, 2014," and Mr. Cole appeared in court on October 16, 2014? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

5. In the absence of substantial evidence, did the trial court err in finding that Mr. Cole has the ability to pay \$1,850 in legal financial obligations, where Mr. Cole qualifies for court-appointed counsel, is indigent under the standards of GR 34, buys his clothes from Goodwill, and makes money by selling firewood while living out of his car? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Cole is a military veteran who was honorably discharged after serving in the Gulf War. RP 219. He lives on Badger Mountain, and recovers timber to make money. RP 220-21. He sells the wood in Chelan, Wenatchee, and Leavenworth, and lives out of his truck when doing so. RP 221. Although he is 47 years old, he had never been convicted of a felony prior to this case. CP 54-55.

On June 23, 2014, Mr. Cole was working in Wenatchee. RP 221.

He took a shower at an acquaintance's home, then walked toward

Goodwill, where he was planning to meet his wife. RP 222-23. Police

Officer Brian Miller saw Mr. Cole and stopped him because there was a

misdemeanor warrant for his arrest. CP 1; RP 108-09. After arresting Mr.

Cole, Officer Miller searched him and also searched a pair of shorts he

was carrying. RP 110. Inside the shorts, Officer Miller found a glass pipe with some residue that was later determined to be methamphetamine. RP 111-13, 140-43.

There was such a small quantity of drugs in the pipe that the forensic scientist had to "scrape" it out in order to test it and could not "get a weight" on it even though the lab has very sensitive scales. RP 143-47. The State nevertheless charged Mr. Cole with felony drug possession in violation of RCW 69.50.4013(1). CP 2-3.

Although frequent travel to Wenatchee was cumbersome for him, Mr. Cole dutifully attended numerous court hearings. CP 85-106 (minutes show Mr. Cole appeared in court on 23 different dates before trial began). Mr. Cole missed only two dates: October 15, 2014, and December 1, 2014. RP 160, 190. He explained that he thought a subsequent notice of hearing for October 16, 2014, replaced the earlier notice of an October 15 hearing. RP 227-28; exs. 8, 21. His lawyer confirmed that Mr. Cole was indeed in the courthouse on October 16, and was confused about why his hearing on that date had been stricken from the calendar. RP 205-06, 218, 230-31. Mr. Cole appeared in court for another hearing on October 20, 2014. RP 197, 208, 232; ex. 23.

As to the December 1, 2014 hearing, Mr. Cole explained that his car slid off the road when he was on his way down the mountain. RP 232-

33, 245. He contacted his lawyer shortly after the accident, and he appeared in court on December 3, 2014, which was the next available court date. RP 210, 233.

Despite the fact that Mr. Cole attended 23 pretrial hearings and explained why he missed two dates, the State moved to amend the information to add two counts of felony bail jumping. CP 4-5, 15-20, 27-29.

At trial, Mr. Cole testified that the shorts he was carrying on June 23, 2014 were not his, and that he did not know there was a pipe inside them. RP 222-25. Officer Miller, in contrast, testified that Mr. Cole "admitted" to him that the pipe was his during a brief conversation following arrest. RP 114. Mr. Cole's attorney told the jury that it should believe Mr. Cole's account, but that even if they believed the pipe belonged to Mr. Cole, Mr. Cole did not know there were *drugs* in the pipe and therefore he was not guilty of drug possession. RP 308-13.

The jury was not instructed that the State had to prove knowing possession beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 39. Instead, the court instructed the jury that Mr. Cole bore the burden of proving "unwitting possession" by a preponderance of the evidence. CP 42.

With respect to the bail jumping charges, Mr. Cole sought to introduce evidence of the 23 times he appeared in court for pretrial

hearings, to support his defense that he did not knowingly and intentionally fail to appear on the two dates he missed. RP 234-35. The State objected on relevancy grounds, and the court sustained the objection. RP 234-35.

With respect to the charge on count two, Mr. Cole explained to the jury that he thought the notice for the October 16 hearing replaced the earlier notice of hearing for October 15, and he did not know he had to appear on both dates. Mr. Cole's former attorney testified and confirmed that Mr. Cole appeared in court on October 16, 2014. RP 205. Witnesses for both the State and the defense testified that Mr. Cole appeared in court yet again on October 20, 2014. RP 197, 208, 232; ex. 23. The prosecutor told the jury that none of this mattered, and that Mr. Cole was guilty because he failed to appear on October 15. RP 296, 326.

In addressing the bail jumping charge on count three, Mr. Cole testified that he was in a car accident on the way down from the mountain on December 1. RP 232-33. His former lawyer confirmed that this is what Mr. Cole told him as well, and that Mr. Cole appeared on the next available court date, which was December 3. RP 210, 245. But because the proffered evidence had been excluded, defense counsel was unable to tell the jurors that they should believe Mr. Cole because he was a trustworthy person who appeared in court on 23 other occasions. The jury

was instructed that Mr. Cole bore the burden of proving "uncontrollable circumstances" prevented his appearance on December 1. CP 47.

During the defense closing argument, Mr. Cole's attorney tried to explain the presumption of innocence and the heavy burden the State bore to prove each charge beyond a reasonable doubt. Counsel started to compare that burden with the civil burdens of preponderance of the evidence and clear and convincing evidence – a comparison that he, like most defense lawyers, had made to juries countless times. But the prosecutor objected and the court sustained the objection, disallowing counsel from emphasizing the relatively high standard of proof that applied to the case. RP 306-08.

The jury convicted Mr. Cole on all three counts. RP 135-37. At sentencing, the court imposed \$1,850 in legal financial obligations. CP 59. The court justified this order with the single statement: "You previously testified that you work, collecting firewood, and have a job selling that and so the court believes that in fact you can make payments on these financial obligations and have this paid off over time." RP 347.

Mr. Cole raised numerous arguments on appeal. The Court of Appeals agreed that the trial court improperly excluded the evidence that Mr. Cole had appeared in court 23 times, but it reversed only the bail jumping conviction related to the December 1 hearing. The court rejected

the arguments that (1) the trial court violated Mr. Cole's constitutional rights by limiting his closing argument; (2) both the drug possession and bail jumping statutes violate due process because they required Mr. Cole to prove the absence of a culpable mental state; (3) insufficient evidence supported the conviction for the bail jumping charge related to the October 15 hearing; and (4) the imposition of \$1,850 in LFO's was improper in light of Mr. Cole's indigence.

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The trial court violated Mr. Cole's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by sustaining the State's objection to the standard defense closing argument comparing different standards of proof.

As noted, a new practice has developed in Washington criminal trials that warrants this Court's attention. Prosecutors are now regularly objecting to traditional defense closing arguments explaining the differences among the various standards of proof applicable in the justice system and emphasizing that the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard is the strictest in the law. When trial courts sustain these ill-taken objections, they violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights of

¹ For an example of another case in which this occurred, see *State v. Jerry Fluker*, King County Superior Court No. 15-1-04839-9 SEA, Court of Appeals No. 74859-9-I. If this has occurred in both Chelan and King Counties, it is reasonable to assume it is occurring elsewhere in the state.

criminal defendants. The trial court here violated Mr. Cole's constitutional rights by sustaining such an objection.

Mr. Cole's attorney emphasized to the jury that the State bore the burden of proving the elements of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 306-07. Defense counsel began to explain the fact that the beyond a reasonable doubt standard is "the highest standard of proof that we have in the law." RP 307. But when counsel correctly described the preponderance standard as "more likely than not," the prosecutor inexplicably objected. RP 307. The court momentarily overruled the objection, but the prosecutor immediately objected again when defense counsel then moved on to explain the "clear and convincing standard." RP 307-08.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And so that's preponderance of the evidence. The next level of proof that we have in the law is called clear and convincing proof.

[PROSECUTOR]: Objection, Your Honor. Argument is outside of the instructions. There's been - - I know where this argument is going. I've heard it before. I don't think it's proper argument to make in a criminal matter, Your Honor.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And I've made this argument probably in every jury trial I've had for the last eight years.

THE COURT: That objection is sustained.

RP 307-08.

The trial court erred in sustaining the prosecutor's objection to Mr. Cole's proper closing argument. Closing argument is the "last clear chance to persuade the trier of fact that there may be reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt." Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853, 862, 95 S.Ct. 2550, 45 L.Ed.2d 593 (1975). Thus, defense counsel must be afforded "the utmost freedom in the argument of the case." State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 474, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). Certainly, he must be permitted to make accurate statements of law. Cf. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 454, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (holding prosecutor's closing argument discussing burden of proof was proper, "particularly given the latitude that a prosecutor has in arguing from the evidence during closing argument."). The improper curtailment of a defense closing argument violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; State v. Osman, 192 Wn. App. 355, 368-69, 366 P.3d 956 (2016); see also id. at 358 (holding that trial court improperly limited defendant's closing argument by sustaining prosecutor's objection to defendant's accurate explanation of "abiding belief").

The court itself tells jurors about the different standards of proof applicable to civil and criminal cases. At the time of Mr. Cole's trial, the Washington Pattern Instructions included a handbook for jurors. *See*

Washington Practice Series, Washington Pattern Jury Instructions – Criminal, Appendix A. Jurors' Handbook to Washington Courts (2015). The Jurors' Handbook described the "kinds of cases" jurors may sit on, and emphasized the "BURDEN OF PROOF" applicable to each. *Id.* at 4-5 (all-caps in original). The handbook read:

In most civil cases the plaintiff's burden is to prove the case by a PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE, that is, that the plaintiff's version of what happened in the case is more probably true than not true.

Id. at 5 (all-caps in original). The handbook contrasted this burden with that applicable in a criminal case:

The plaintiff's burden of proof is greater in a criminal case than in a civil case. In each criminal case you hear the judge will tell you all the elements of the crime that the plaintiff must prove; the plaintiff must prove each of these elements BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT before the defendant can be found guilty.

Id. (all-caps in original).

As of December 2015, the handbook has been withdrawn because juror information is now on the courts' website. That website, like the handbook before it, includes explanations of various standards and burdens of proof. The front page of courts.wa.gov includes a link to information for jurors:

Juror Website

Summoned for jury duty? Click above to learn more on jury service, what to expect, and how courts in Washington State operate. . .

www.courts.wa.gov. Clicking the Juror Website link leads to a page with links to several resources, including a "Glossary of Terms." The Glossary of Terms includes definitions for "probable cause," "preponderance of evidence," and "reasonable doubt." Thus, our justice system believes it is appropriate for jurors to be aware of the various standards and burdens of proof.

Mr. Cole was simply attempting to convey the same legally correct information to the jury in closing argument. He was doing so in an effort to explain the gravity of the standard of proof applicable to criminal cases. The trial court erred and violated Mr. Cole's constitutional rights to counsel and to due process when it sustained the State's objection to this proper argument. *Cf. Osman*, 192 Wn. App. at 377 ("We hold the defense argument is not an improper characterization of the reasonable doubt standard. The court erred in sustaining the objection as inaccurate and limited the scope of defense closing argument.").

The issue of whether trial courts may prevent defendants from delivering the traditional closing argument contrasting the different

²http://www.courts.wa.gov/newsinfo/resources/?fa=newsinfo_jury.termgui_de&altMenu=Term.

standards of proof is a significant question of constitutional law and a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). This Court should grant review.

2. The statutes at issue violate due process, both facially and as applied, because they permit the State obtain felony convictions without proving a culpable mental state.

Mr. Cole's defense on all three counts was the absence of a culpable mental state: He did not knowingly possess drugs and did not intentionally miss court. But unlike in the typical criminal case, the State was not required to prove Mr. Cole's culpability for either crime. Rather, Mr. Cole was required to prove "unwitting possession" for count one and "uncontrollable circumstances" on count three. This burden-shifting violated Mr. Cole's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. This Court should grant review of this significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

a. Both statutes at issue require the defendant to prove the absence of a culpable mental state, rather than requiring the State to prove blameworthiness beyond a reasonable doubt.

The drug-possession statute provides, in relevant part:

(1) It is unlawful for any person to possess a controlled substance unless the substance was obtained directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a

- practitioner while acting in the course of his or her professional practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this chapter.
- (2) Except as provided in RCW 69.50.4014, any person who violates this section is guilty of a class C felony punishable under chapter 9A.20 RCW.

RCW 69.50.4013. This Court has construed the language of this statute to impose strict liability. *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 537, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004). In other words, the State need not prove knowledge or intent to obtain a conviction. *See id.* Instead, the defendant bears the burden of proving "unwitting possession" by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* at 533.

Similarly, although the bail-jumping statute requires the State to prove the defendant had notice of his court date, it does not require the prosecution to prove the accused knowingly or intentionally missed his hearing. The statute provides:

(1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.

RCW 9A.76.170(1). If the defendant did not intentionally fail to appear, he must prove "uncontrollable circumstances" by a preponderance of the evidence:

(3) It is an affirmative defense to a prosecution under this section that uncontrollable circumstances prevented the person from appearing or surrendering, and that the person did not contribute to the creation of such circumstances in reckless disregard of the requirement to appear or surrender, and that the person appeared or surrendered as soon as such circumstances ceased to exist.

RCW 9A.76.170(2); see also State v. Fredrick, 123 Wn. App. 347, 353-54, 97 P.3d 47 (2004); WPIC 19.16.³

b. The statutes violate due process because they create a presumption of guilt and relieve the State of its burden of proof.

"The principle that there is a presumption of innocence in favor of the accused is the undoubted law, axiomatic and elementary, and its enforcement lies at the foundation of the administration of our criminal law." *Coffin v. United States*, 156 U.S. 432, 453, 15 S.Ct. 394 (1895). To overcome this presumption, the State must prove every element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970).

³ The legislature has defined "uncontrollable circumstances" as "an act of nature such as a flood, earthquake, or fire, or a medical condition that requires immediate hospitalization or treatment, or an act of a human being such as an automobile accident or threats of death, forcible sexual attack, or substantial bodily injury in the immediate future for which there is no time for a complaint to the authorities and no time or opportunity to resort to the courts." RCW 9A.76.010(4).

Although the legislature has broad authority to define crimes, "due process places some limits on its exercise." *Lambert v. California*, 355 U.S. 225, 228, 78 S.Ct. 240, 2 L.Ed.2d 228 (1957).

As Holmes wrote in The Common Law, 'A law which punished conduct which would not be blameworthy in the average member of the community would be too severe for that community to bear.'

Id. at 229.

Cases addressing Florida's drug possession statute are instructive.

See Shelton v. Secretary, Dept. of Corrections, 802 F.Supp.2d 1289, 1293

(M.D. Fla. 2011) ("Shelton I") rev'd on other grounds, 691 F.3d 1348

(11th Cir. 2012) ("Shelton II"). Florida, like all other states except

Washington, requires the State to prove knowing possession beyond a reasonable doubt in a prosecution under the Uniform Controlled

Substances Act. Shelton II, 691 F.3d at 1350-51; State v. Adkins, 96 So.3d

412, 425 (Fla. 2012) (Pariente, J., concurring in result); Shelton I, 802 F.

Supp.2d at 1295 & n.4. But in 2002, the Florida legislature amended the statute such that the State no longer had to prove the defendant was aware of the nature of the substance he possessed. Shelton II, 691 F.3d at 1350.

Instead, lack of knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance became an affirmative defense. See id.

A defendant convicted under this provision filed a petition for habeas corpus in federal district court, arguing that the statutory amendment violated due process. The district court agreed, and struck down the statute as unconstitutional. *Shelton I*, 802 F.Supp.2d at 1293. The court acknowledged that legislatures have broad authority to define the elements of crimes. *Id.* at 1297-98. But this authority is "not without severe constraints and constitutional safeguards." *Id.* at 1298. In particular, strict liability crimes are disfavored and subject to close constitutional scrutiny:

The contention that an injury can amount to a crime only when inflicted by intention is no provincial or transient notion. It is as universal and persistent in mature systems of law as belief in freedom of the human will and a consequent ability and duty of the normal individual to choose between good and evil.

Id. at 1297 (quoting Morisette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 250, 72S.Ct. 240, 96 L.Ed. 288 (1952)).

In reviewing Supreme Court cases, the federal district court concluded that legislatures have more leeway to remove a mens rea from criminal statutes if the penalty is minimal, the stigma associated with conviction is insignificant, or the type of conduct purportedly regulated is related to the "public welfare." *Shelton I*, 802 F.Supp.2d at 1300. But because the controlled substances statute at issue imposed heavy penalties,

resulted in burdensome collateral consequences, and regulated "inherently innocent" conduct, it did not pass constitutional muster. *Id.* at 1301-06. The same must be said of RCW 69.50.4013 and RCW 9A.76.170.

The State of Florida appealed the decision in *Shelton*, and the Eleventh Circuit reversed. However, the circuit court did not reach the merits of the constitutional claim in *Shelton*, instead reversing the district court on procedural grounds. *Shelton II*, 691 F.3d at 1355 ("To be clear, this Court expresses no view on the underlying constitutional question, as we limit our analysis to AEDPA's narrow inquiry."). The court noted that after the district court issued its ruling, the Florida Supreme Court addressed the same issue in *Adkins*, and upheld the statute as constitutional. *Id.* at 1350. Both the Eleventh Circuit and the Florida Supreme Court emphasized that the legislature did *not* eliminate the knowledge requirement altogether, and implied that retaining the general knowledge requirement was critical to the statute's surviving the due process challenge. *Shelton II*, 691 F.3d at 1350-51 & 1354-55; *Adkins*, 96 So.3d at 422 (plurality); *id.* at 425 (Pariente, J., concurring in result). As the concurring justice in *Adkins* explained:

Significantly, the State still bears the burden of proving a defendant's knowledge of presence [of drugs] in order to establish a defendant's actual or constructive possession of the controlled substance. Therefore, I agree that the statute does not punish strictly an unknowing possession or

delivery, thereby saving the Act from being unconstitutionally applied to defendants where knowledge of the *presence* of the substance is unknown.

Adkins, 96 So.3d at 425 (Pariente, J., concurring in result) (internal citations omitted).

The Washington statute does not have the same saving grace. It eliminates the mens rea requirement altogether, and criminalizes unknowing possession of drugs unless the *defendant* proves he is innocent. The statute is facially unconstitutional under the above caselaw, and it is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Cole – who was forced to prove his innocence by a preponderance of the evidence in order to prevail.

The bail-jumping statute suffers the same infirmity, as it punishes an innocent failure to appear in court unless the defendant proves his absence was unintentional. As applied in this case, Mr. Cole was forced to prove "uncontrollable circumstances" by a preponderance of the evidence, and, as with the drug charge, he was unable to meet his burden to prove the innocence that should have been presumed. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

3. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove bail jumping as charged in count two.

The State alleged that Mr. Cole failed to appear "on or about"

October 15. CP 28, 44. However, Mr. Cole appeared on October 16,

because he thought a notice of hearing for that date replaced the notice of hearing for October 15. RP 205-06, 218, 227-31. Because October 16 is "on or about" October 15, the State presented insufficient evidence to prove the crime. For this reason, too, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

4. The legal financial obligations should be stricken because Mr. Cole is impoverished.