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

IV. Argument 

Mr. Cole seeks review of five issues under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

For each of these issues, Mr. Cole merely cites the RAP and fails to 

explain how each of his issues meets the specific standards established 

under RAP 13.4(b). By failing to discuss how each of the issues raised 

presents not simply a question of constitutional law, but actually a 

significant question, and by failing to explain how the issues raised present 

questions of wide-reaching public interest and not just private interest, Mr. 

Cole has failed to raise any competent issues for review. Moreover, by 

simply reiterating the same arguments that the Court of Appeals rejected, 

without explaining why the Court of Appeals might have erred, Mr. Cole 

further fails to demonstrate what benefit further review would achieve. 

A. Mr. Cole's disagreement concerning limitation of his counsel's 
legal argument outside of the jury instructions does not merit 
review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). 

Mr. Cole argues that the Court of Appeals erred when it affirmed 

the superior court's sustaining of an objection during closing argument. 

Specifically, he takes issue with the trial court prohibiting counsel from 

art:,TUing the "clear and convincing evidence" standard when the court did 

not instruct on that standard and when no such instruction was requested 
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by the defense. For support, Mr. Cole cites to boilerplate case law stating 

the wide latitude counsel should be given to fashion closing ar&rument. 

From that, Mr. Cole argues this limitation on closing argument violated 

his constitutional rights. 

Mr. Cole's argument lacks merit, however, because he ignores the 

fact that "[i]t is well established that trial courts possess broad 

discretionary powers over the scope of counsel's closing arguments." 

State v. Frost, 160 Wn.2d 765, 771-72, 161 P.3d 361 (2007). He further 

ignores the requirement that "'Counsel's statements also must be confined 

to the law as set forth in the instructions to the jury."' /d. at 772, quoting 

State v. Perez-Cen1antes, 141 Wn.2d 468,475, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000); State 

v. Woolfolk, 95 Wn. App. 541, 548, 977 P.2d 1 (1999) (citations omitted) 

("Statements by counsel to the jury on the law must be confined to the law 

as set forth in the instructions of the court. But counsel are granted more 

latitude in their discussion of the facts of the case."). Given the well­

established state of the law, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the 

trial court was well within its discretion to "strictly enforce the principle 

that the court, not the lawyers, provides jurors with the applicable law." 

Slip op. at 13. 

Mr. Cole tries to circumvent the fact that the jury received no 

instruction defining the intermediate burden ofproofby citing to the 
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Jurors' Handbook that jurors presumably receive and presumably read 

when called for jury duty. However, nowhere in that book is the 

intermediate burden of proof defined. Instead, the handbook defines 

preponderance of the evidence and proofbeyond a reasonable, both of 

which were defined by the court in this case, and both of which were 

argued by counsel during closing argument. 1 

Given that Mr. Cole cites only boilerplate and has not even 

attempted to discuss and refute the authorities cited by the Court of 

Appeals, he has not shown that the specific facts of this case raise a 

significant constitutional question. 

Mr. Cole also cites RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) as grounds for review and 

ar!,rues that because a superior court within Division I sustained a similar 

objection this case presents and issue of substantial public importance. 

This argument fails because the two cases are not on similar footing. In 

the pending Division I case cited by Mr. Cole, the issue was discussion of 

probable cause, not the intermediate burden ofproof.2 Two cases on 

separate factual footings hardly presents a groundswell of cases that would 

1 Mr. Cole notes that the State also objected to defense counsel's argument concerning 
the preponderance of the evidence standard. But, the trial court overruled that objection. 
Accordingly, no prejudice befell Mr. Cole with respect to that objection. 
2 State v. Fluker, No. 74859-9-1 (Brief of Appellant at 20), available at 
<http://www.courts. wa.govlcontent/Briefs/ AO 11748599%20Appellant%20Je~lo20Allen 
%20Fluker's%20.PDF>. 

Page 7 of 12 



make this an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, this settled 

question oflaw does not merit further review. Even if this case did 

present an intriguing question of law the fact that the defense did not 

request an instruction on the intermediate burden of proof and did not 

make an offer of proof as to what the excluded argument would have 

entailed invites speculation and puts this case on poor factual footing. 

B. Mr. Cole's disagreement with the Court of Appeals's rejection 
of his request to abandon precedent concerning unlawful 
possession of a controlled substance does not merit review 
under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). 

Mr. Cole next argues, that the Court of Appeals erred when it 

reaffirmed longstanding case law holding that the constitution does not 

require the state to prove mens rea for unlawful possession of a controlled 

substance. Mr. Cole acknowledges that existing case law contradicts his 

position, and instead argues that the case law should be abandoned. Given 

this acknowledgment, it is incumbent on Mr. Cole to make a showing or at 

least a suggestion that this longstanding rule oflaw is both incorrect and 

harmful in order to merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as a significant 

question of constitutional law. In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek, 

77 Wn.2d 649,653,466 P.2d 508 (1970) ( .. We will abandon precedent 

only if it is clearly shown to be incorrect and harmful."). Mr. Cole, 

however, failed to acknowledge that requirement both here and at the 
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Court of Appeals, and simply reiterates the same argument that the Court 

of Appeals soundly rejected. Slip op. at 20-22. Accordingly, this issue 

does not merit review under RAP l3.4(b)(3) and for the same reasons does 

not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

C. Mr. Cole's disagreement with the Court of Appeals's rejection 
of his request to heighten the me11s rea standard for bail 
jumping does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). 

With respect to bail jumping, he argues that it also impermissibly 

lacks a mens rea element. Yet, he ignores the Court of Appeals's 

acknowled!:,ment of the fact that bail jumping requires the State to prove 

of knowledge. Slip op. at 22. By not addressing how the existing mens 

rea element is somehow insufficient, Mr. Cole has failed to present a 

competent issue for review. Even if this issue was further developed, it 

would fail to merit review for the same reasons that the issue above 

concerning bail jumping does not merit review. 

D. Mr. Cole has failed to raise a significant question of 
constitutional law concerning the sufficiency of the evidence 
used to convict him of bail jumping in Count II. 

Mr. Cole's third argument for review is that the Court of Appeals 

erred when it affirmed there was sufficient evidence to prove bail jumping 

as charged in count II. Mr. Cole fails to cite any case law in support ofhis 

position. He furthermore fails to address how the Court of Appeals's 

erred in its analysis. Most importantly, Mr. Cole fails to even cite the 
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constitutional provision he claims is at issue in order to merit review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3). For these reasons, Mr. Cole has not shown that this 

raises a significant question of constitutional law. 

E. Mr. Cole has failed to raise an issue of public (as opposed to 
private) importance with regard to his legal financial 
obligations. 

Finally, Mr. Cole claims that the Court of Appeals's ruling with 

respect to his legal financial obligations (LFOs) raises an issue of 

substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, a review 

of this request shows that Mr. Cole simply disagrees with the court's 

exercise of discretion. By not even suggesting that the Court of Appeals 

somehow abused its discretion in this case or that its unpublished decision 

will have far reaching consequences for other cases, Mr. Cole has failed to 

show that this is an issue of public interest. It is merely an issue of private 

interest to himself. 

F. This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals's 
reversal of the December 1st bail jumping conviction because 
the decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and patently 
conflicts with the plain language of ER 608(b). 

At the Court of Appeals, Mr. Cole argued that exclusion of 

evidence of his appearance in court on 23 other dates was relevant to 

Count III, bail jumping on December I st. The superior court had excluded 

that evidence as irrelevant, RP 234, except that it admitted (without 
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objection from the State) evidence of his first reappearance after 

December 1st. RP 210-211. 

The Court of Appeals agreed with the State that the excluded 

evidence was not relevant to prove or disprove any of the elements the 

State has to prove under RCW 9A. 76.170( 1 ). Slip Op. at 8. In reversing 

the defendant's conviction, the Court relied instead on it being relevant to 

Mr. Cole's affirmative defense of uncontrollable circumstances under 

RCW 9A.76.170(2). Slip Op. at 9. 

The Court found that Mr. Cole's track record of appearances made 

it more likely that his uncontrollable circumstance of an automobile 

accident was true. Slip Op. at l 0. The Court then went further and stated 

that if Mr. Cole's track record of appearances was poor, the State would 

likely have tried to elicit the same evidence. Slip Op. at 10. While true, 

the Court's analysis missed the point that, although relevant for the 

purpose stated, ER 608(b) prohibits the defendant from eliciting specific 

instances of conduct to bolster his credibility. Only the opposing party on 

cross-examination is allowed to attack credibility with specific instances 

of conduct. 

The Court of Appeals tried to side-step the fact that this evidence 

only bore on the defendant's credibility for truthfulness, but its analysis 

fails because the only evidence that a car accident had occurred came from 
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the defendant's testimony. Thus, the only purpose for establishing Mr. 

Cole's track record of court appearances was to bolster the credibility of 

the only witness to the claimed automobile accident. As such, review is 

appropriate under RAP 13 .4(b )(1) due to the Court of Appeals's conflict 

with case Jaw upholding ER 608's prohibition on the defendant bolstering 

his character through specific instances of conduct. E.g. State v. 

Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d 131, 136-37, 667 P.2d 68 (1983) (holdi ng that it 

was enor to pem1it a witness's character for truthfulness to be bolstered by 

specific instances of conduct during direct examination). 

V. Conclusion 

Based on the foregoing arguments and auth01ities, the State